
 

 

IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE DEMOCRATIC 

SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA 

 
 

In the matter of an Appeal in terms of 

Article 154(P) (3) (b) of the Constitution 

read with the Court of Appeal (Procedure for 

Appeals from the High Courts established by 

Article 154(P) of the Constitution) Rules 

1988 in respect of the order dated 

13/01/2013 made by the Provincial High 

Court of Western Province Holden in 

Colombo. 
 

Appeal No. CA (PHC) 0039/2013  

 

Officer-in-Charge, 

Police Station, 

Kirulapona. 
 

Complainant  

CA (PHC) 0039/2013  

P.H.C. Colombo HCRA No. 143/2010  

M.C. Colombo No. 54055/2010  
 

Vs. 
 

1. Mereknknnage Kingsley De Costa, 

06, Somadevi Place,  

Kirulapone Mawatha,  

Colombo 05. 
 

Party of the First Part- Respondent 

 

2. Fowzul Insaf Nizam, 

176A, Polhengoda  Road, 

Colombo 06. 

Presently, 

09/04, Sujatha Lane,  

Kalubowila. 

 

Party of the Second Part-Respondent 



 

C 2               A(PHC) 039/2013         C.A. (PHC) APN 98/2013                  H.C. Colombo HCRA 143/2010 

 

3. Ramalingam Udayakumar alias 

Mohomod Uwais, 

53/8, Dabare Mawatha, 

Narahenpita. 
 

Party of the Intervenient Part- 

Respondent 

 

AND BETWEEN 

 

Mereknknnage Kingsley De Costa, 

06, Somadevi Place,  

Kirulapona Mawatha, 

Colombo 05. 
 

Party of the First Part- Respondent 

Petitioner 
 

-Vs- 
 

Officer-In-Charge 

Police Station 

Kirulapona. 
 

Complainant- Respondent 

 

Fowzul Insaf Nizam, 

176A, Polhengoda Road, 

Colombo 06. 

Presently, 

09/04, Sujatha Lane, 

Kalubowila. 
 

Party of the Second Part- Respondent-

Respondent 

 

Ramalingam Udayakumar alias 

Mohomod Uwais, 

53/08, Dabare Mawatha, 

Narahenpita. 
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Party of the Intervenient Part- 

Respondent- Respondent 

 

AND NOW BETWEEN 
 

Fowzul Insaf Nizam, 

176A, Polhengoda Road, 

Colombo 06. 

Presently, 

09/04, Sujatha Lane, 

Kalubiwila. 
 

Party of the Second Part- Respondent 

Respondent -Appellant 

 

1. Mereknknnage Kingsley De Costa, 

06, Somadevi Place, 

Kirulapona Mawatha, 

Colombo 05. 
 

Party of the First Part- Respondent 

Petitioner- Respondent 

 

2. Officer-In-Charge 

Police Station 

Kirulapona. 
 

Complainant- Respondent- 

Respondent-Respondent 

 

3. Ramalingam Udayakumar alias 

Mohomod Uwais. 

53/08, Dabare Mawatha, 

Narahenpita. 
 

Party of the Intervenient Part- 

Respondent- Respondent- Respondent 
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CA (PHC) APN 98/2013 Revision 
 
 

In the matter of an Application for 

Revision in terms of Article 138 of the 

Constitution of the Democratic Socialist 

Republic of Sri Lanka. 
 

 

Officer-In-Charge 

Police Station, 

Kirulapone. 
 

Complainant 

CA (PHC) APN 98/2013     

H.C. Colombo HCRA 143/2010  

M.C. Colombo No. 54055/2010  
 

Vs. 
 

1. Mereknknnage Kingsley De Costa, 

06, Somadevi Place,  

Kirulapone Mawatha,  

Colombo 05. 
 

Party of the First Part-Respondent 

 

2. Fowzul Insaf Nizam, 

176A, Polhengoda  Road, 

Colombo 06. 

and also 

09/04, Sujatha Mawatha,  

Kalubowila. 

and presently UNICEF Syria Country 

Office, Four Seasons Hotel, 

Al Barazil Street, 

Damascus, Syria. 
 

Party of the Second Part -Respondent 
 

3. Ramalingam Udayakumar alias 

Mohomod Uwais, 

53/8, Dabare Mawatha, 

Narahenpita. 
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Party of the Intervenient Part- 

Respondent 
 
 

AND BETWEEN 
 

Mereknknnage Kingsley De Costa, 

06, Somadevi Place,  

Kirulapone Mawatha, 

Colombo 05. 
 

Party of the First Part-Respondent- 

Petitioner 
 

 

-Vs- 
 

Officer-In-Charge 

Police Station 

Kirulapone. 
 

Complainant Respondent 
 

Fowzul Insaf Nizam, 

176A, Polhengoda Road, 

Colombo 06. 

and also 

09/04, Sujatha Mawatha,  

Kalubowila. 

and presently UNICEF Syria Country 

Office, Four Seasons Hotel, 

Al Barazil Street, 

Damascus, Syria. 
 

Party of the Second Part- Respondent- 

Respondent 
 

Ramalingam Udayakumar alias 

Mohomod Uwais, 

53/08, Dabare Mawatha, 

Narahenpita. 
 

Party of the Intervenient Part- 

Respondent- Respondent 
 

AND NOW BETWEEN 
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Fowzul Insaf Nizam, 

176A, Polhengoda Road, 

Colombo 06. 

and also 

09/04, Sujatha Mawatha, 

Kalubowila. 

and presently UNICEF Syria Country 

Office, Four Seasons Hotel, 

Al Barazil Street, 

Damascus, Syria. 
 

Party of the Second Part- Respondent -

Respondent- Petitioner 
 

-Vs- 
 

1. M. Kingsley De Costa, 

No. 06, Somadevi Place,  

Kirulapone Mawatha,  

Colombo 05. 
 

Party of the First Part- Respondent 

Petitioner- Respondent 

 

2. Officer-In-Charge 

Police Station, 

Kirulapone. 
 

Complainant- Respondent- 

Respondent 

 

3. Ramalingam Udayakumar alias 

Mohomod Uwais, 

53/8, Dabare Mawatha, 

Narahenpita. 
 

Party of the Intervenient Part- 

Respondent- Respondent- Respondent  

 
 

Before    : Dr. Ruwan Fernando J. & 
 

     M. Sampath K.B. Wijeratne J. 

Appeal No. CA (PHC) 0039-2013  
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Counsel  :  Riad Ameen  for  the 2nd  Part-Respondent- 

   Respondent-Appellant  
 

Sumedha Mahawanniarachchi with Indika 

Weerasinghe for the 1st Part- Respondent-

Petitioner-Respondent 
 

Revision No. CA (PHC) APN 98/2013  
 

Counsel  :   Riad Ameen for the 2nd Part-Respondent- 

     Respondent-Petitioner 
 

Sumedha Mahawanniarachchi with Indika 

Weerasinghe for the 1st Part- Respondent-

Petitioner-Respondent 
 

 

Argued on   :  25.03.2021  
 

Written submissions 

filed on  :   02.11.2018 & 22.01.2020 by (the  2nd  

Part-Respondent-Respondent-Appellant in 

Appeal No. C.A (PHC) 0039/2013 & 

Revision bearing No. C.A No. (PHC) APN 

98/2013 

 

25.09.2020 & 22.11.2019 (by the  1st Part- 

Respondent-Petitioner-Respondent 

in Case No. C.A (PHC) 0039-2013) 
 

 

DECIDED ON   : 01.04.2021 

 

Dr. Ruwan Fernando, J. 
 
 

Introduction 
 

[1] These two connected Appeal bearing No. C.A (PHC) 0039/2010 and 

Revision Application bearing No. C.A (PHC) APN 98/2013 are from the 

judgment of the learned High Court Judge of Colombo delivered in Revision 

Application bearing No. HCRA 143/2010 filed in the High Court of Colombo 

against the order made by the learned Additional Magistrate of Colombo on 

14.09.2010 in M.C. Colombo Case bearing No. 54055/2013.  
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Background to Appeal bearing No. C.A (PHC) 0039/2013 and Revision 

bearing No. C.A (PHC) APN 98/2013  
 

[2] The Officer-in-Charge of the Police Station of Kirulapona filed an 

information in the Magistrate’s Court of Colombo on 20.04.2010 under the 

provisions of Section 66 of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act, No. 44 of 1979 

(hereinafter referred to as the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act) to the effect that 

there was a dispute regarding the possession of a land between the Party of the 

First Part-Respondent-Petitioner-Respondent  (hereinafter referred to as the 1st 

Respondent) and the Party of the Second Part-Respondent-Respondent-

Appellant (hereinafter referred to as the Appellant) and that due to this dispute, 

a serious breach of the peace is threatened or is likely to occur between the 

parties. 
 

Affidavit of the 1st Respondent 
 

 

[3] The 1st Respondent filed his Affidavit and stated inter alia, that (i) the 

property in dispute was owned by his mother’s eldest Sister K. Leelawathie 

Perera who gifted the said property to her daughter Mangalika 

Galapitigederage on 06.07.1998 (1V1); (ii) while the said Mangalika 

Galapitigederage was in possession of the said property, the said Leelawathie 

Perera instituted an action in the District Court of Colombo bearing No. 

20061/L to revoke the said gift; (iii) the said Mangalika Galapitigederage who 

was dissatisfied with the judgment of the said case filed an appeal against said 

judgment in the High Court of Civil Appeal, Colombo; (iv) the said Mangalika 

Galapitigederage pending appeal granted a power of attorney bearing No. 356 

dated 25.04.2007 to him (1V2); (v) when he went to the property in dispute on 

08.01.2010, he saw his brother Ranjith Costa and 6-7 persons in the premises in 

dispute and some of the persons were mixing concrete in the premises; (vi) he 

promptly made a complaint to the Police Station and consequent to the 

investigation made into the said complaint, the Appellant went out of the 

premises; (vii) in terms of the said power of attorney granted to him by the said 

Mangalika Galapitigederage, he entered into an agrement (1V3) with the Party 

of the Intervenient Part-Respondent-Resppndent (hereinafter referred to as the 

Intervenient-Respondent) on 25.01.2010 to sell the property in dispute to the 

Intervenient-Respondent (1V3); (viii) upon an advance sum of Rs. 1 Million 

being made by the Intervenient-Respondent, he handed over possession of the 

said property to the Intervenient-Respondent on 25.01.2010. 
 

[4] The 1st Respondent who claimed that the Intervenient-Respondent took 

control of the said property on 25.01.2010 sought an order that the 
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Intervenient-Respondent be declared entitled to the possession of the premises 

in question.  
 

Affidavit of the Appellant 
 

[5] The Appellant filed his Affidavit and stated inter alia, that (i) the premises 

in dispute was initially purchased by M.I.S.M. Faleel from Merinninge Ranjith 

De Costa by a deed of transfer bearing No. 1557 (2V1); (ii) he purchased three 

blocks of the said premises from M.I.S.M. Faleel by three separate deeds of 

transfer bearing Nos. 1564, 1585, 1608 (2V3-2V5); (iii) he surveyed the said 

premises, paid utility bills and commenced renovating the said premises; (iv) 

while renovations were proceeding, his cousin brothers, Muslih Abdul Cader 

and  Nasheeth Abdul Cader occupied the said premises temporarily with his 

permission from 07.12.2009 to 19.02.2010; (v) consequent to a complaint made 

by the 1st Respondent to the Kirulapona Police Station on 08.01.2010, he 

agreed to temporarily suspend renovations for 3 days to enable the 1st 

Respondent to file an action  within 3 days and obtain a stay order; (vi) as there 

was no such case filed by the 1st Respondent, he instructed his contractor to 

commence work and went aborad on 10.01.2010 for his employment in Sudan; 

(vii) while his workers were engaged in renovations, he was told by his Civil 

Engineer that the workers had been forcibly dispossessed from the said 

premises on 26.02.2010; (viii) he sent a complaint to the Kirulapona Police 

Station from Sudan by Fax on 27.02.2010 and after returning to Sri Lanka, he 

made another statement to the Kirulapona Police Station on 19.04.2010.   
 

Affidavit of the Intervenient-Respondent 
 

[6] The Intervenient-Respondent filed Affidavit stated inter alia, that he 

entered into an agreement with the 1st Respondent for the purpose of 

purchasing the property in dispute pending appeal for a sum of Rs. 6 Million 

and paid an advance of Rs. 1 Million to the 1st Respondent on 25.01.2010. He 

further claimed that he took control of the possession of the said property with 

effect from 25.01.2010 and sought a declaration that he is entitled to possession 

of the property in dispute.  
 
 

Order of the Magistrate of Colombo dated 14.09.2010  
 

[7] Upon the perusal of the Affidavits, the documents and the written 

submissions of the parties, the learned Additional Magistrate of Colombo by 

order dated 14.09.2010 held that (i) the Appellant who had been in possession 

of the premises in dispute until 26.02.2010 has been forcibly dispossessed from 

the said premises on the same date; (ii) the Police filed a case bearing No. 

B/4994/3/10 in the Magistrate’s Court of Colombo (2V17) on 09.03.2010 in 
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respect of the said compliant of dispossession made by the Appellant; (iii) as 

the forcible dispossession took place on 26.02.2010 and the information was 

filed on 20.04.2010, the Appellant had been dispossessed within a period of 2 

months immediately before the date on which the information was filed under 

section 66 of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act.  
 

[8] Accordingly, the learned Additional Magistrate declared that the Appellant 

was entitled to the possession of the said premises and directed that the 

Appellant be restored to possession and prohibited all disturbances to such 

possession otherwise than under the authority of a decree of a competent court. 
 
 

Application by way of Revision in the High Court of Colombo bearing No. 

HCRA No. 143/2010  
 

[9] Being aggrieved by the said order of the learned Additional Magistrate of 

Colombo, the 1st Respondent filed an application by way of Revision bearing 

No. HCRA No. 143/2010 in the High Court of Colombo seeking to set aside 

the said order. The 1st Respondent further sought an order directing the 

Appellant not to interfere with his peaceful possession and that of the 

Intervenient-Respondent.   
 

Judgment of the High Court of Colombo  in Revision Application bearing 

No. HCRA No. 143/2010  
 

[10] The learned High Court Judge of Colombo by his judgment dated 

13.02.2013 set aside the order of the learned Additional Magistrate of Colombo 

dated 14.09.2010 and declared that the 1st Respondent and the Intervenient-

Respondent were entitled to the possession of the premises in dispute for the 

following reasons: 
 

1. Although the dispute between the parties occurred on 08.01.2010, the 

information dated 20.04.2010 was filed by the Officer-in-Charge of the 

Kirulapona Potice Station under section 66 (1) of the Primary Courts 

Procedure Act after a lapse of 3 months from the date of the dispute in 

violation of the mandatory statutory provisions of the Primary Courts’ 

Procedure Act; 
 

2. Although the learned Additional Magistrate held that the Appellant had 

been dispossessed on 26.02.2010 according to the information contained in 

the “B” Report filed by the Police in the Magistrate’s Court of Colombo 

(2V17), the information filed by the Police on 20.04.2010 did not refer to 
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any such forcible dispossession and the said information only referred to 

the dispute that arose between the parties on 08.01.2010; 
 

3. The dispute between the parties occurred on 08.01.2010 and the 

information was filed on 20.04.2010 and accordingly, the learned 

Additional Magistrate erroneously declared that the Appellant was in 

possession of the premises in question on 26.02.2010;  
 

4. The learned Additional Magistrate erroneously acted on the information 

stated in the “B” Report (2V17) and made an order under section 68 (3) of 

the Primary Courts Procedure Act declaring that the Appellant was 

dispossessed on 26.02.2010 when there was no reference to any 

dispossession in the information filed by the Police on 20.04.2010. 
 
 

Appeal to the Court of Appeal and the Revision Application filed in the Court 

of Appeal 
 

[11] Being aggrieved by the said judgment of the learned High Court Judge of 

Colombo dated 13.02.2013, the Appellant appealed to this Court in case bearing 

No. C.A (PHC) 0039/2013 and further filed a Revision Application bearing No. 

C.A (PHC) APN 98/2013. On 22.10.2020, both Counsel made oral submissions 

before a bench comprising Justice Shiran Gooneratne and myself and agreed to 

abide by one judgment in both the Appeal and the Revision application. The Bench 

fixed the case for judgment to be delivered on 18.12.2020.   
 

[12] As Justice Shiran Gooneratne was elevated to the Supreme Court and the 

Covid Pandemic situation disrupted the court proceedings, this matter was 

mentioned on 03.02.2021 before the present bench to ascertain whether this matter 

needs to be re-argued or the judgment could be delivered by the present bench upon 

the written submissions. On 17.02.2021 the learned Counsel for the 1st Respondent 

stated that his client wished to have this matter re-argued before the present bench 

and hence, this matter was re-argued before the present bench on 25.03.2021. 
 

Preliminary Objection 
 

[13] The 1st Respondent had raised a preliminary objection to the maintainability of 

the Appeal bearing No. C.A (PHC) 0039/2013 on the ground that the Petition of 

Appeal is out of time as the judgment of the High Court was delivered on 

13.02.2013 and the Appeal was filed 05.03.2013 and therefore, the Appeal had been 

filed after a period of 14 days from  the date of the judgment in violation of Rule 2 

(1) of the Court of Appeal (Procedure for Appeals from High Courts) Rules 1988. 
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[14] During the hearings on 22.10.2020 and 25.03.2021, Mr. Sumedha 

Mahawanniarachchi, the learned Counsel for the 1st  Respondent conceded that the 

Appeal bearing No. C.A (PHC) 0039/2013 had been filed within a period of 14 

days from the date of the High Court judgment. Accordingly, I reject the 

Preliminary objection raised on behalf of the 1st Respondent  and hold that the 

Appeal bearing No. CA (PHC) 0039/2013 had been filed within 14 days from the 

date of the High Court judgment in compliance with Rule 3 (1) of the Court of 

Appeal (Procedure for Appeals from High Courts) Rules 1988.  
 

 

Identity of the subject matter of the dispute & Matters not in dispute 

 

[15] The following matters are not in dispute in the present case: 
 

1. The subject matter of the dispute relates to a property with a house bearing 

assessment No. 88/12, at Somadevi Road, Kirulapone, Colombo 06; 
 
 

2. The property in dispute was originally owned by A. Lellawathie Perera who by 

Deed No. 10105 gifted the said property to her adopted daughter Mangalika 

Galapitigedera on 06.07.1998; 
 

1. The said Lellawathie Perera filed an action in the District Court of Colombo to 

revoke the said deed of gift No. 10105 and the District Court after ex parte 

trial, entered judgment in favour of the said Leelawathie Perera on  20.08.2004; 
 

2. The said Mangalika Galapitigedera filed application under section 86 (2) of the 

Civil Procedure Code to have the said ex-parte judgment vacated and while the 

said case was pending in the District Court, the said Mangalika Galapitigedera 

gave a Power of Attorney dated 25.04.2007 (1V2) in favour of the 1st 

Respondent for the purpose of selling the said property on her behalf pending 

appeal; 
 

3. The said application to vacate the ex parte judgment was dismissed by the 

District Court by order dated 04.07.2007 and the said Mangalika 

Galapitigedera filed an Appeal against the said judgment of the High Court of 

Civil Appeal;  

 
 

4. The Civil Appellant High Court by order dated 11.08.2015 dismissed the said 

Appeal on 11.08.2015 (Vide- order dated 11.08.2915 filed of the docket) on the 

basis that the Appellant has not exercised due diligence in paying the brief fees 

in terms of the Court of Appeal (Appellate Procedure Copies of Records) 

Rules. 
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Scope of the Inquiry under Section 68 of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act  
 

[16] A perusal of the information filed by the Officer-in-Charge of the Kirulapone 

Police Station and the Affidavit filed by the parties reveals that the dispute 

between the parties relates to the possession of a land under Part VII of the 

Primary Courts’ Procedure Act. In an inquiry into a dispute as to the possession of 

any land under section 68 (1) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act, the main point 

of decision is as to who was in possession of the land on the date of the filing of 

the information to the Court under section 66 of the Primary Courts’ Procedure 

Act. Section 68 (1) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act reads as follows: 
 

“68 (1) Where the dispute relates to the possession of any land or part thereof, 

it shall be the duty of the Judge of the Primary Court holding the inquiry to 

determine as to who was in possession of the land or the part on the date of 

the filing of the information under section 66 and make order as to who is 

entitled to possession of such land or part thereof”. 
 

[17] Section 68 (3) becomes applicable only if the Judge can come to a definite 

finding that some other party had been forcibly dispossessed within a period of 2 

months immediately before the date on which the information was filed under 

section 66 of the Act (Ramalingam v. Thangarajah (1982) 2 Sri LR 693). Section 

68 (3) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act reads as follows: 
 

“68 (3) Where at an inquiry into a dispute relating to the right to the 

possession of any land or any part of a land, the Judge of the Primary Court 

is satisfied that any person who had been in possession of the land or part 

has been forcibly dispossessed within a period of two months immediately 

before the date on which the information was filed under section 66, he may 

make a determination to that effect and make an order directing that the 

party dispossessed be restored to possession and prohibiting all disturbance 

of such possession otherwise than under the authority of an order or decree 

of a competent court.” 
 

[18] It is the duty of the Primary Court Judge to determine whether the Appellant 

who had been in possession of the land or part of the land has been forcibly 

dispossessed within a period of  2 months immediately before the date on which 

the information was filed under section 66 (1) of the Act. Thus, the main points 

that arose for determination before the learned Additional Magistrate were as 

follows: 
 

1. Whether it was the 1st Respondent or the Appellant or the Intervenient- 

Respondent who was in possession of the premises  in dispute on the date of 

the filing of the information by the Police on 20.04.2010 under section 66 

(1) of the Act; and 
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2. Whether the Appellant who had been in possession of the premises in 

dispute has been dispossessed within a period of 2 months immediately 

before the date on which the information was filed by the Police on 

20.04.2010.  
 

[19] At the hearing, Mr. Riad Ameen, who appeared for the Appellant submitted 

that the learned High Court Judge has erred in failing to appreciate the distinction 

between the (i)  dispute affecting land and the dispute affecting land where a breach 

of the peace is threatened or likely when applying section 66 (1) of the Act and (ii) 

date of commencement of a dispute and the date of dispossession when applying 

section 68 (3) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act. He further submitted that the 

learned High Court Judge has failed to consider that the complaint of dispossession 

dated 26.02.2010 was made only by the Appellant and therefore, the learned 

Additional Magistrate was bound to consider the relevance of the information 

contained in the “B” Report filed by the Police in the Magistrate’s Court on 

09.03.2010 (2V17) when applying section 68 (3) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure 

Act; 
 
 

Objection to Jurisdiction of the Magistrate to make a determination under 

section 66 (1) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act 
 

[20] At the hearing, Mr. Sumedha Mahawanniarachchi first submitted that the 

jurisdiction of the Primary Court Judge is limited to the first information filed under 

section 66 (1) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act and as the dispute between the 

parties had occurred on 08.01.2010 and the information had been filed on 

20.04.2010, the learned Magistrate had no jurisdiction to make any determination 

after a lapse of more than 3 months. Mr. Mahawanniarachchi next submitted that 

the learned Magistrate lacked jurisdiction to make a determination under the 

provisions of the Primary Courts Procedure Act as there could not have been a 

breach of the peace between the parties when the information was filed on 

20.04.2010 in respect of a dispute that occurred on 08.01.2010.  
 

Delay in filing the Information under Section 66 (1) of the Primary Courts’ 

Procedure Act 
 

[21] The first submission of Mr. Mahawanniarachchi is based on the failure of the 

Police  Officer to comply with section 66 (1) (a) (1) of the Primary Courts’ 

Procedure Act, which provides that the Police Officer inquiring into the dispute 

shall, with the least possible delay file an information regarding the dispute in the 

Primary Court. It reads as follows: 
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“66 (1) Whenever owing to a dispute affecting land a breach of the peace is 

threatened or likely- 
 

(a) the police officer inquiring into the dispute- 
 

(i) shall with the least possible delay file an information regarding the 

dispute in the Primary Court within whose jurisdiction the land is situate 

and require each of the parties to the dispute to enter into a bond for his 

appearance before the Primary Court on the day immediately succeeding 

the date of filing the information on which sittings of such court are held; 

or  
 

(ii) shall, if necessary in the interests of preserving the peace, arrest the 

parties to the dispute and produce them forthwith before the Primary 

Court within whose jurisdiction the land is situate to be dealt with 

according to land and shall also at the same time file in that court the 

information regarding the  dispute; or..” 
 

 

 

[22] The main complaint of Mr. Mahawanniarachchi was that the information 

regarding the dispute should have been filed in the Primary Court with the least 

possible delay after the dispute occurred on 08.01.2010 but the information in 

question was filed on 20.04.2010 and accordingly, the learned Magistrate had no 

jurisdiction to make any determination due to inordinate delay in filing the 

information under section 66 (1)(a) of the Act.  Now the question is this: What is 

the exact point in time the Police Officer is required to file the information under 

section 66 (1) of the Primary Courts Procedure Act? Is it at every point in time 

when any dispute affecting land arises or only where any  dispute affecting land is 

escalated to a point where a breach of the peace is threatened or likely between the 

parties.  
 

[23] Part VII of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act refers to “inquiries into 

disputes affecting land where a breach of the peace is threatened or likely”. 

Section 66 (1) (a) of the Act provides for a case where a  Police officer files 

information, whereas section 66 (1)(b) provides for a case where an interested party 

files an information by Affidavit. Section 66 (1) (a) thus requires a police officer 

inquiring into the dispute to be satisfied with two elements, namely, that (1) there is 

a dispute affecting land; and (2) that owing to the said dispute a breach of the peace 

is threatened or likely.  
 

Dispute affecting land where a breach of the peace is threatened or likely  
 

[24] Mr. Mahawanniarachchi strenuously argued that the formation of opinion as to 

whether a breach of the peace is threatened or likely depends on the first 

information provided to the Police on 08.01.2010 by the 1st Respondent and when 

the information was filed after a lapse of more than 3 months, there cannot be a 

breach of the peace between the parties.  



 

C 16               A(PHC) 039/2013         C.A. (PHC) APN 98/2013                  H.C. Colombo HCRA 143/2010 

 

[25] It is settled law that (i) under section 66 (1) (a) of the Primary Courts’ 

Procedure Act, the formation of the opinion as to whether a breach of the peace is 

threatened or likely is left to the police officer inquiring into the dispute (Velupillai 

and others v. Sivanathan (1993) 1 Sri LR 123) and  where the information is filed 

in a Primary Court under section 66 (1)(a), such court is vested with jurisdiction to 

inquire into and make a determination or order on the dispute regarding which the 

information is filed  (David Appuhamy v. Yassasi Thero (1987) 1 Sri LR 253).  
 

Nature of the Complaint made on 08.01.2010 
 

[26] It is not in dispute that the Officer-in-Charge of the Kirulapone Police Station 

has not filed an information in the Magistrate’s Court immediately on the basis of 

the complaint made by the 1st Respondent on 08.01.2010 or the subsequent 

statement made by the Appellant to the Police on 09.01.2010. The Appellant in his 

statement to the Police has, however, agreed to suspend the ongoing constructions 

temporarily other than repairs for 3 days to enable the 1st Respondent to file a court 

case against him before 13.01.2010. The Appellant has further confirmed this 

position in paragraph 24 of his affidavit filed in the Magistrate’s Court on 

29.06.2010 as follows:   
 

ud hqksfi*a ixúOdkfha <ud wdrlaIl ks,Odrs flfkl= jYfhka lghq;= lrkjd' fkd' 
88$12" fidaudfoaú fmfoi" lsre,mk ,smskfha msysá m¾pia 20'25 bvu yd ksji 2008 ckjdrs 
udifha isg c,S,a hk whf.ka Tmamq mrslaIdlr ñ,oS .;a;d' miq.sh yhfjksod isg ksjfia 
w,q;ajeähd lghq;= lrf.k hk w;r wo osk WoEik fmrjre 10'00 g muK lsre,mk 
fmd,sia ia:dkfha ks,Odrska fofofkla meñK fmd,sia ia:dkdêm;s ;=ud yuqjk f,i uf.ka 
b,a,d isáhd' ud fmd,sia ia:dkdêm;s ;=ud yuq jqKd' tu wjia:dfõ ug lreKq meyeos,s 
lrñka fuu bvu iïnkaOj tï'fla' o fldaia;d keue;s wh úiska meñKs,a,la oud ;sfnk 
nj ug meyeos,s l<d' tï'fla' o fldaia;d tu wjia:dfõ ud uqK.eiqKd' tu wjia:dfõ tu 
uy;d ug lshd isáhd fuu bvu iïnkaOfhka kvqjla we;s nj ug jdÑlj okajd isáhd' 
fmd,sia ia:dkdêm;s ;=ud iu. idlÉpd lr fuu bvu iïnkaOfhka hï whs;shla fyda 
wjYH;djla tï'fla' o fldaia;d uy;dg we;akï  2010'01'13  osk fyda Bg fmr kS;s 
ud¾.fhka ud fj; bosrsm;a lrk f,i tf;la tu ksjig boslsrSï ;djld,slj w;aysgjQjd' 
w,q;ajeähd lghq;= muKla lrkakg ud tlÕjQjd'  

 
 

[27] It is not every dispute affecting land that empowers a police officer to file an 

information in the Primary Court under section 66 (1) (a) of the Primary Courts’ 

Procedure Act. A police officer is, however, obliged to file an information, if there 

is a dispute affecting land where a breach of the peace is threatened or likely 

(Punchinona v Padumasena [1994 (1) Sri LR 117]. No doubt, the complaint dated 

08.01.2010 related to a dispute affecting land, but unless such dispute is escalated 

to a point where a breach of the peace is threatened or likely, the police officer is 

not obliged to  file an information under section 66 (1) of the Act. It is crystal clear 

that the Officer-in-Charge of the Kirulapona Police could not have formed an 

opinion that a breach of the peace is threatened or likely as the Appellant had 
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agreed to suspend temporarily the constructions to enable the 1st Respondent to file 

a court case within 3 days  and produce a stay order.  
 

[28] Under such circumstances, the dispute that commenced on 08.01.2010  as 

referred to in the complaint dated 08.01.2010 could not have escalated to a point 

where a breach of the peace was threatened or likely and thus, a police officer was 

not obliged to file an information purely on the basis of the complaint dated 

08.01.2010.  For those reasons, I hold that there is no merit in the argument that 

there was non-compliance with the provisions of section 66 (1) (a) of the Act by not 

filing the information on the basis of the said complaint dated 08.01.2010.  
 

Complaint of dispossession made by the Appellant on 27.02.2010 
 

[29] On 27.02.2010, the Appellant made a complaint to the Kirulapona Police 

Station by way of a Fax message from Sudan, where he was employed stating that 

his employees who were working in his house had been dispossessed from the 

premises in question. It reads as follows: 
 

  26'02'2010  
uu iQvdkfha hqksfi*a ixúOdkfha <ud wdrlaIl ks,Odrsfhl= jYfhka fiajh lrkjd' uu 
2009 ckjdrs udifha lsre,mk isoaOd¾: mgqu. wxl 88$10 orK bvu yd ksji ñ,oS f.k 
,ÕoS th w,q;ajeähd lrf.k hkjd' wo osk iji 4'30 g muK 15 fofko= muK tu 
ksjig meñK jev lrk whg ;¾ckh lr m,jd yer f.h nf,ka w;am;a lrf.k 
uqrlrejka fofofkl=o rojd f.dia ;sfnkjd' óg fmro uf.a ìrs|g yd orejkag ;¾ckh 
lr ;snqKd' oeka ud rfgka msg isák ksid fm!oa.,slj meñKSug yelshdjla ke;' fuu 
ksid lreKdlr uf.a ksji ug kej; ,nd oS iduldój th N=la;s ú|Sug i,id fok f,i 
b;d lreKdfjka b,a,d isákjd'  
 

[30] Consequent to the complaint of dispossession made by the Appellant to the 

Kirulapona Police Station on 26.02.2010 (Vide- 2V16), the Police filed a Case in 

the Magistrate’s Court of Colombo on 09.03.2010 (2V17) and sought a date to file 

a further report regarding the progress of the investigation. The relevant parts of the 

“B” Report (2V17 at page 411 of the brief) reads as follows: 
 

by; lS meñKs,slre oekg by; ,smskfha mosxÑ ù hqksfi*a wdh;kfha <ud wdrlaIl 
ks,Odrsfhl= jYfhka fiajh lrk nj;a Tyq YS% ,xldfõ isáhoS lsre,mk fmd,sia jifï 
wxl 88$10" isoaOd¾: mgqu." lsre,mk ,smskfha bvu iy ksji 2009 ckjdrs ui ñ,oS .;a 
nj;a th miqj w,q;ajeähd lghq;= lrñka isáhoS" 2010'02'26 jk osk iji 4'30g muK 15 
fofkl= muK fuu ksjig meñk jev lrñka isá whg ;¾ckh lr m,jd yer nf,ka  
f.h w;am;a lrf.k uqrlrejka fofofkl= r|jd f.dia isák nj;a óg fmr fuu ksjfia 
isá meñKs,slref.a ìrs|g iy orejka yg ;¾ckh lr we;s nj;a mjid *elaia 
mKsúvhla u.ska ud fj; meñKs,s lr we;. 

 

[31] On 20.04.2010, the Police filed an information under section 66 (1) (a) of the 

Primary Courts’ Procedure Act referring only to the complaint made by the 1st 

Respondent on 08.01.2010 without disclosing the complaint of dispossession made 

by the Appellant on 26.02.2010. It is clearly stated in the said information dated 
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20.04.2010 that due to the dispute between the parties, a breach of the peace is 

likely between the parties (lreKq fufia fyhska fuu md¾Yjlrejka w;r iduh lvùï 
we;sù fjk;a wmrdO we;sùug bv we;s fyhska fuu fomd¾Yjh wêlrKh fj; le|jd 
fomd¾Yjh w;r iduh wdrlaId lsrSug 1979 wxl 44 orK m%d:ñl kvq úOdk ix.%y mkf;a 66 
^1& ks;s m%ldrj lsre,mk fmd,sia ia:dkfhys ia:dkdêm;s m%'fmd'm' wreK pkao%md, jk ud 
2010'04'20 jk osk .re wêlrKh fj; jd¾;d lrñka b,a,d isákafka fuu fomd¾Yjh 
wêlrKhg le|ùu i|yd fkd;Sis ksl=;a lrk fuka f.!rjfhka b,a,d isáñ'& 
 

[32] On 23.04.2010, the Officer-In-Charge of the Police Station filed a further 

report in the Magistrate’s Court in connection with the complaint of dispossession 

made by the Appellant on 26.10.2010 stating that every effort made to settle the 

matter failed and therefore, an information was filed under section 66 (1) of the 

Primary Courts’ Procedure Act in the Magistrate’s Court. The relevant parts of the 

Police Report dated 23.04.2010 attached to the Revision Application (X2) reads as 

follows: 
 

2010'03'09 jk osk udf.a uq,a jd¾;dj iy inef|a' by; bvfï iy ksjfia N=la;sh 
iïnkaO wdrjqf,a meñKs,slre jk wxl 123" isjrdma mdr" bioSka k.rh" ud;r ,smskfha 
mjqia,s bkaId*a ksYdï hk wh iqvdka rfÜ isg meñK by; meñKs,a, iïnkaOfhka oekg 
fuu bvfï ysñlre hehs mjid isák fkd' 06" fidaudfoaú fmfoi" lsre,mk ,smskfha 
fursØaØf.a lsxia,s o fldaia;d hk fomd¾Yjh ia:dkhg le|jd fuu wdrjq, 
iïnkaOfhka m%%Yak lsrSfïoS fuu fomd¾Yjh úiska u bvfï whs;sjdislï iïnkaOfhka 
,shlshú,s bosrsm;a lrñka mjid isákafka fuu fomd¾Yjhg u bvfï N=la;sh we;s njhs' 
fuu ksid fmd,sia ia:dkh u.ska fuu fomd¾Yjh w;r we;s bvï wdrjq, iu:hlg m;a 
lsrSug ls%hd l, o fomd¾Yjhu ta i|yd iu:hlg m;a fkdùu fya;=fjka wo osk .re 
wêlrKfha by; fomd¾Yjhg fmkS isàug Wmfoia oS we;' 
 

[33] On 07.06.2010, the Police filed a further report and moved to lay by the case 

bearing No. B/4994/3/10 on the basis that an information under section 66 (1) had 

already been filed on 20.04.2010 and accordingly, the said case was laid by on 

08.06.2010. It is crystal clear that a Police Officer has inquired into the complaint 

of dispossession made by the Appellant on 26.02.2010 and the same is referred to 

in the “B” Report dated 09.03.2010 and further reports dated 23.04.2010 and 

08.06.2010.  
 

Issue of Jurisdiction raised for the first time in the Court of Appeal  
 

[34] I shall now consider the maintenability of the legal submission made by Mr. 

Mahawanniarachchi for the first time during the argument that the learned 

Magistrate lacked jurisdiction to make a determination under section 68 (3) of the 

Act as no breach of the peace could have occurred when the information was filed 

by the police on 20.04.2010. He relied on the decision of this Court in Ali v. Abdeen 

(2001) 1 Sri LR 413) in support of his contention. The question that arose for 

decision in Ali v Abdeen (supra) was whether  the failure on the part of the Primary 

Court Judge to comply with section 66 (6) of the Act deprives him of the 
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jurisdiction to hear the case. Gunawardena, J. sitting as a single Judge of the Court 

of Appeal held in Ali v Abdeen at page 415: 
 

“The Primary Court Judge was under a peremptory duty to encourage or make 

every effort to facilitate dispute settlement before assuming jurisdiction to hold 

an inquiry into the matter of possession and impose on the parties a settlement 

by means of Court order….  
 

The making of an endeavour by the court to settle amicably is a condition 

precedent which had to be satisfied before the function of the Primary Court 

under section 66 (7) began, that is, to consider who had been in possession. 

Since the Primary Court Judge had acted without jurisdiction in proceeding to 

determine the question of possession, its decision is, in fact of no force in law”.  
 

[35] It is to be noted that the Court of Appeal in Abdul Wahaab Mohamed Nisam v. 

Subasinghe Nishshanka Justin Dias C. A (PHC) 16/2007 decided on 26.05.2011 on 

an identical issue did not follow the above mentioned expressions made by 

Gunawardena  J. in Ali v Abdeen (supra) and held at page 4: 
 

“The Appellant in this appeal takes up the issue of jurisdiction only in the 

Court of Appeal. If the Appellant or the Respondent wants to take up the issue 

of jurisdiction, it must be taken up at the earliest opportunity. This view is 

supported by the judicial decision in David Appuhamy v. Yassasi Thero (1987) 

1 SLR 253…… 
 

In the present case, it appears to me that the appellant, who was silent about 

the issue of jurisdiction in the Primary Court, takes it up only after he lost the 

case. It cannot be said that failure on the part of the PCJ to comply with 

section 66 (6) of the Act deprives him of the jurisdiction to hear the case”.  
 

[36] Mr. Mahawanniarachchi, on behalf of the 1st Respondent took up the issue of 

jurisdiction for the first time in the Court of Appeal. A perusal of the Affidavits 

filed by the 1st Respondent and the Intervenient Respondent reveals that they had 

never challenged the jurisdiction of the Magistrate to make a determination under 

section 68 (3) of the Act on the ground that there was no likelihood of a breach of 

the peace between the parties. If the 1st Respondent wished to take up the issue of 

jurisdiction, he should have raised it at the earliest opportunity in the Magistrate 

Court itself but no such objection was raised in the Magistrate’s Court. In 

Navaratnasingham v. Arumugam and Another 1980 (2) 1 at page 5, Soza, J. held 

that: 
 

“An objection to jurisdiction must be taken as early as possible and the failure 

to take such objection when the matter was being inquired into must be treated 

as a waiver on the part of the petitioner. Where a matter is within the plenary 

jurisdiction of the Court, if no objection is taken, the Court will then have 

jurisdiction to proceed and make a valid order. In the present case, the 
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objection to jurisdiction was raised for the first time when the matter was 

being argued in the Court of Appeal and the objection had not even been taken 

in the petition filed before that Court”.  
 

[37] The same principle was followed in  David Appuhamy v. Yassasi Thero (1987) 

1 Sri LR 253,  at 256. Accordingly, the 1st Respondent cannot now challenge the 

legality of the proceedings for the first time in the Court of Appeal without taking it 

up at the earliest opportunity. In the present case, the Officer-in-Charge of the 

Police Station having formed an opinion that a breach of the peace was threatened 

or likely between the parties, filed an information within a period of 2 months from 

the claimed date of dispossession which occurred on 26.02.2010. For those reasons, 

I hold that the learned Magistrate was vested with jurisdiction to inquire into the 

matter under section 66 (1) (a) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act and for those 

reasons too, the submission of Mr. Mahawanniarchchi on the issue of jurisdiction is 

rejected.  
 

 

Relevance of the information referred to in the “B” Report filed in the 

Magistrate’s Court  
 

[38] The next question is whether the learned Magistrate is prevented from 

referring to the information contained in the “B” Report filed by the Police of 

09.03.2010 in the Magistrate’s Court in deciding the question of dispossession 

under section 68 (3) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act for the mere reason that 

the information filed on 20.04.2010 does not refer to to the complaint of 

dispossession dated 26.02.2010.  
 

[39] The Officer-in-Charge of the Police Station has failed to refer to the  complaint 

of dispossession made by the Appellant on 26.02.2010 or his own Report filed on 

09.03.2010 (2V17) in the Magistrate’s Court in connection with the complaint of 

dispossession made on 26.02.2010. As noted, after the information was filed on 

20.04.2010 under section 66 (1) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure, the same police 

officer filed a further Report on 23.04.2010 stating that he made every effort to 

settle the dispute between the parties, but all his efforts failed.  
 

[40] The procedure of an inquiry under Part VII of the Act is sui generis and the 

procedure to be adopted and the manner in which the proceedings are to be 

conducted are clearly set out in sections 66, 71 and 72 of the Act (Ramalingam v. 

Thangarajah 1982 (2) Sri LR 693, at p. 699). In Ramalingam v. Thangarajah, 

Sharvananda, J. (as he then was) at page 698 stated: 
 

 

“That person is entitled to possession until he is evicted by due process of law. 

A Judge should therefore in an inquiry under Part VII of the aforesaid Act, 

confine himself to the question of actual possession on the date of filing of the 

information except in a case where a person who had been in possession of the 
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land had been dispossessed within a period of two months immediately before 

the date of the information. He is not to decide any question of title or right to 

possession of the parties to the land. Evidence bearing on title can be 

considered only when the evidence as to possession is clearly balanced and the 

presumption of possession which flows from title may tilt the balance in favour 

of the owner and help in deciding the question of possession.” 
 
 

[41] Section 72 prescribes the material on which the determination under section 

68 and 69 of the Act is to be based and such determination under Part VII shall be 

made after examination and consideration of- 
 

(a) The information filed and the affidavits and documents furnished; 
 

(b) Such other evidence on any matter arising on the affidavits  or  

           documents furnished as the court may permit to be led on that matter;  

       and  
 

(c) Such oral or written submissions as may be permitted by the Judge  

       of the Primary Court in his discretion. 
 

[42] A wide discretion has been given to the Primary Court Judge under section 72 

to decide on the type of evidence and material on which he should act in making 

his determination under section 68 (1) or 68 (3) of the Act. The only limitation is 

that he must act judicially and as far as practicable, depending on the 

circumstances of each case. The 1st Respondent’s complaint dated 08.01.2010 and 

the subsequent statement of the Appellant dated 09.01.2010 do not refer to any 

dispossession and thus, it was irrelevant to consider the question of dispossession 

on the basis of the complaint of the 1st Respondent made on 08.01.2010.  
 

[43] Accordingly, I am of the opinion that the said complaint dated 26.02.2010 

(2V16) and the information contained in the “B” Report dated 09.03.2010 (2V17) 

constitute documents arising on the Affidavit filed by the Appellant in the Primary 

Court. The Primary Court Judge was bound to examine and consider not only the 

information filed by the Police on 20.04.2010 but also the complaint of 

dispossession made by the Appellant on 27.06.2010 (2V16) and the “B” Report 

filed by the Police on 09.03.2010 (2V17).   
 

[44] Under such circumstances, the learned Additional Magistrate has correctly 

considered the complaint of dispossession (2V16) and the information contained in 

the “B” Report (2V17) and proceeded to consider the question whether the 

Appellant who had been in possession of the premises had been forcibly 

dispossessed within a period of 2 months immediately before the date on which the 

information was filed on 20.04.2010. The learned High Court Judge was wrong in 

my view in holding that the information contained in the “B” Report dated 
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09.03.2010 (2V17) is irrelevant for the determination of possession under section 

68 (1) or dispossession under section 68 (3) of the Act.   
 

Possession and Dispossession  
 

[45] At the hearing Mr. Ameen submitted that the learned High Court Judge has 

erred in calculating the period of 2 months from the date of the commencement of 

the dispute in total disregard of section 68 (3) which requires the Primary Court 

Judge to decide the question whether or not the Appellant who had been in 

possession of the property has been dispossessed within a period of 2 months from 

the date on which the information was filed by the Police. He further submitted 

that the Appellant has established by adducing credible evidence (2V1-2V17) that 

he had been in possession until 26.02.2010 and that he has been forcibly 

dispossessed on the same day.   
 

 

[46]  At the hearing however, Mr. Mahawanniarachchi took up a new position that 

both the 1st Respondent and the Appellant had failed to present concrete evidence 

and prove their possession and thus, the learned Magistrate had acted without 

jurisdiction in declarating that the Appellant was entitled to possession of the 

premises in question. He further submitted that the learned High Court Judge 

should have set aside the order of the learned Magistrate on that score alone. He 

conceded however, that part of the order of the learned High Court Judge in 

declaring that the 1st Respondent is also entitled to the possession of the premises in 

question is erroneous.  
 

[47] In support of the submission that the Appellant has failed to establish 

possession on or about 26.02.2010, Mr. Mahawanniarachchi submitted that: 
 

 

(i) The water and electricity bills marked 2V6 (a) -2V8 (b) do not support 

the possession of the Appellant as the name of a different person and 

different premises is mentioned and the documents marked 2V9 (a) -

2V9 (b), 2V11 (a) -2V1b), 2V12 also do not support the possession of 

the Appellant; 
 

(ii) The Appellant had left Sri Lanka on 10.01.2010 and no police complaint 

had been made by the workers of the Appellant and therefore, he could 

not establish his physical possession of the premises in dispute on the 

alleged date of the dispossession on 26.02.2010’ 
 

(iii) The Appellant has failed to establish from the material placed before the 

court that he had been in possession of the subject matter within a period 

of 2 months immediately before the date on which the information was 

filed by the Police on 20.04.2010 or that he was forcibly dispossessed. 
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[48] I shall now proceed to consider the question whether the learned Magistrate 

was correct in holding that the Appellant who had been in possession of the 

premises until 26.02.2010 has been forcibly dispossessed from the said premises 

within a period of 2 months immediately before the date on which the information 

was filed under section 66 of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act.  
 

[49] It was the position of the Appellant that the said Leelawathie Perera gifted the 

said property on 15.03.2007 to M. Ranjith de Costa, his son who by deed No. 1557 

dated 11.12.2008 (2V1) transferred the said property to one M. I. S. M. Faleel, 

who by deeds Nos. 1564 dated 25.01.2010 (2V3), 1585 dated 06.03.2009 (2V4), 

and 1608 dated 16.06.2009 (2V5) transferred the said property to the Appellant. 

The Appellant has further taken up the position that after he purchased the said 

property from Faleel, he surveyed the said premises, commenced renovating the 

said premises and his contractors deployed workers in the said premises in dispute 

for this purpose.  
 

[50] The Appellant has produced the documents marked 2V6 (a) -2V25 in support 

of his position that he was in possession of the said premises until he was 

dispossessed on 26.02.2010. The Appellant has stated in his Affidavit that he was 

employed by the UNICEF in Sudan and thus, one Muslih Abdul Cader and 

Nasheeth Abdul Cader were residing on the said premises from 07.12.2009 to 

19.02.2010 with his permission. The Affidavits of Muslih Abdul Cader marked 

2V10 and Nasheeth Abdul Cader marked 2V23 (a) confirm the Appellant’s 

position that Muslih Abdul Cader and his brother Nasheeth Abdul Cader were 

residing in the premises in dispute from 07.12.2009 till 19.02.2010 with he 

permission of the Appellant. They had further confirmed the Appellant’s position 

that  the Appellant commenced renovating the house and 4-5 workers attended to 

the repair works during that period. The said Muslih Abdul Cader has further 

stated in his affidavit that he received water and electricity bills from the 

respective authorities and handed over all such bills to the wife of the Appellant.  
 

[51] A perusal of the bills marked 2V6 (a)-2V8 (b) reveals that, except for the 

documents marked 2V6 (a) and 2V6 (b), all other water bills marked 2V7 (a) -2V8 

(b) relate to the premises bearing assessment No. 88/12, Somadevi Place, Colombo 

06 and the bills had been paid up to December 2009. The payments for the 

Electricity and Water Bills marked 2V18 (a) -2V19 (e) too had been made in 

respect of the premises in dispute until December 2009. Although the name of a 

different person is mentioned in the bills, no other persons, including the 1st 

Respondent had claimed that they paid the water and electricity bills in respect of 

the premises in dispute until December 2009. The Appellant could not have 

produced these bills from his custody unless he was in possession of the said 
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premises either by himself or through one of his agents or servants as confirmed by 

Muslih Abdul Cader in his affidavit marked 2V10. 
 

[52] The document marked 2V20 (a) is a Seizure Notice dated 05.08.2009 issued by 

the Colombo Municipal Council for non-payment of rates in a sum of Rs. 29,468.57 

and this letter had been addressed to the Owner or Occupier at premises bearing No. 

88/12. A perusal of the Receipt issued by the Colombo Municipal Council marked 

2V20 (b) reveals that the Appellant, on 31.12.2009 had paid the said sum to the 

Colombo Municipality to avoid the premises being seized by the Colombo 

Municipal Council. No evidence was adduced by the 1st Respondent to prove that 

he was in possession of the premises in question or that he received the said notice 

or paid the arrears of assessment rates in respect of the premises in question. It was 

only the Appellant who had paid the arrears of assessment rates and thus, unless the 

Appellant was in possession of the premises either by himself or through his agents, 

he could  not have received the said notice and paid the said rates to the 

Municipality.  
 

[53] The documents issued by the Licensed Surveyor marked 2V9 (a) and 2V9 (b) 

reveal that the said property was surveyed on 28.12.2009 and 09.01.2010 according 

to the Plan No. 176A at  the request of the Appellant and at that time, there was no 

boundary dispute in the premises in dispute. The Surveyor could not have entered 

the premises and done such a survey in the premises unless the Appellant was in 

possession of the said premises as no person had objected to any such survey being 

carried out on the premises in dispute.  
 

[54] One Nasheeth Abdul Cader has further stated in his Affidavit that the 

Appellant commenced repairs and renovations through a contractor named 

Sirajudeen who employed around 4-6 workers (2V23 (a). The said Abdul Majeed 

Sirajudden in his Affidavit marked 2V13 has confirmed this position and stated 

inter alia, that he entered into a contract with the Appellant for a contract sum of 

Rs. 1,390,000/-and carried out renovations on the premises in dispute from 

04.01.2010 to 25.02.2010. He has further stated that one of his co-workers told him 

on 26.02.2010 that around 7-8 persons entered the premises in dispute on 

26.02.2010, forcibly took them in a Van and dropped them warning them not to 

return back to the premises and thus, he informed the incident to his engineer Mr. 

Hafeel. 
 

[55] The Appellant has adduced credible evidence to establish that after he 

purchased the premises in dispute, he surveyed the land, paid utility bills, arrears of 

assessment rates,  employed a contractor and workers and carried out renovations to 

the premises in question and therefore, he was in possession of the premises in 

question until 26.02.2010.  
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[56] I shall now proceed to consider the complaint made by the 1st Respondent to 

the Kirulapona Police Station on 08.01.2010 and the position taken up by the 

Intervenient-Respondent in the context of the Affidavits and documents produced 

by the Appellant in support of his possession until 26.02.2010. The Power of 

Attorney given by Mangalika Galapitigedera to the 1st Respondent on 25.04.2007 

(1V2) reveals that she had only appointed the 1st Respondent to sell the property in 

dispute pending appeal. The complaint made by the 1st Respondent to the 

Kirulapona Police Station on 08.01.2010 (1V4) reasa as follows:  
 

óg wjqreoq lsysmhlg by; ux.,sld ta f.a bvu uf.a kug úlsKqjd' ug ta f.a bvu ñ,oS 
.;a; oskh u;l keye' kuq;a f.a bvfï Tmamq yd wksl=;a ,shlshú,s uf.a kug ;sfhkjd' 
fï bvfï m¾pia 38 ;sfhkjd' mrK f.hla ;sfhkjd' fï f.a bvug uf.a f,dl= whshd 
jk rxcs;a fldaia;d whs;sjdislï lshkjd' oekg wjqreoq 04l ld,hl isg rxcs;a fldaia;d 
yd uu fï bvug w,q;alfâ wêlrKfha kvq lshkjd' ;ju kvqj úNd. fjkjd' wo Wfoa 
7'00 g ú;r ug wi,ajeisfhla weú;a lSjd uf.a whshd rxcs;a fldaia;d .,aje,s f.k;a tu 
bvfï f.or lv,d bvu uek,d ;dmamhla boslrkak hkjd lsh,d' uu Wfoa 7'00 g ú;r 
fkd' 88$12" fidaudfoaú mdf¾ ug whs;s bvug .shd' túg oelald rxcs;a fldaia;d ;j msrsñ 
yh y;a wg fofkla tlal ta bvfï bkakjd' ñkskafodarefjla bvu uksñka isáhd' ;j msrsñ 
lsysmfofkla fldkalS%Ü wkñka isáhd' bvu we;=f,a .,aje,s isfuka;s od,d ;snqKd' uu 
rxcs;a iu. fudkjdj;a l:djg .sfha keye' fï .ek meñKs,a,la lrkak fmd,sishg wdjd' 

 

[57] The 1st Respondent has not claimed in his complaint that he was in possession 

of the premises in question and further, he has failed to produce a single document 

to prove his possession of the premises in dispute. On the other hand, the 1st 

Respondent has admitted in this complaint made on 08.01.2010 that  the Appellant 

had brought building material, surveyed the premises in dispute and employed 

workers who were engaged in mixing concrete in the premises. It is crystal clear 

that the 1st Respondent did not have any possession of the premises in question 

when he made a complaint to the Police on 08.01.2010 as correctly submitted by 

Mr. Ameen  in his submissions.  
 
 

Possession of the Intervenient-Respondent 
 

[58] The 1st Respondent and the Intervenient-Respondent have, however, claimed 

in their Affidavits filed in the Magistrate’s Court that in terms of the Power of 

Attorney dated 25.04.2007, the 1st  Respondent  entered into an agreement with the 

Intervenient-Respondent on 25.01.2010 to sell the said property for a sum of Rs. 6 

Million (1V3) pending appeal. They have claimed that in terms of the said 

agreement, the 1st Respondent having received an advance sum of Rs. 1 Million 

from the said Intervenient-Respondent, handed over the possession of the said 

property to the Intervenient-Respondent on 25.01.2010.  
 

[59] It is not in dispute that when the Police filed information on 20.04.2010, the 

Intervenient-Respondent was in possession of the premises in question. The learned 
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High Court Judge has heavily relied on the date of the dispute referred to in the 

complaint, viz, 08.01.2010 and the date of the information filed by the Police, viz. 

20.04.2010 and held that the Intervenient-Respondent was in possession of the 

premises in dispute on the date of the filing of the information.  
 

[60] It is settled law that a Judge of the Primary Court in an inquiry under section 

68 (1) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act should confine himself to the question 

of actual possession on the date of filing information except in a case where a 

person who had been in possession of the land had been dispossessed within a 

period of 2 months immediately preceding filing of information (Ramalingam v. 

Thangarajah (Supra). The position of the Appellant was that he was dispossessed 

by a group of persons on 26.02.2010 and thereafter, the Intervenient-Respondent 

was in unlawful possession of the premises in dispute after 26.02.2010.  
 

[61] The first question that arises is whether the Intervenient-Respondent took 

control of the possession of the premises in dispute on 25.01.2010 as claimed by the 

1st Respondent and the Intervenient-Respondent in their Affidavits. The 

Intervenient-Respondent has filed the documents marked 3V1-3V17 in support of 

his position that after he entered into the informal agreement dated 25.01.2010, he 

took control of the premises in question on 25.01.2010.  
 

[62] The document marked 3V1 is the deed of gift,  the document marked 3V2 is a 

power of attorney and the document marked 3V3 is an informal agreement dated 

25.01.2010. These documents do not support the position of the Intervenient-

Respondent in respect of the premises in question. The documents dated 17.05.2010 

marked 3V4, 3V5 and 3V6 only relate to the registration of ownership and 

assessment payment made on 17.05.2010 and thus, they had been issued after the 

information was filed by the Police on 20.04.2010.  
 

[63] The undated photographs marked 3V11-3V18 only establish the existing 

position of the house, with sand stored in the premises and a security person being 

put on guard and nothing else. They do not support the possession of the 

Intervenient-Respondent between the crucial period from 25.01.2010 to 26.02.2010. 

The only other documents that have been filed in support of the Intervenient-

Respondent’s possession are the Affidavit given by one Ukwatta Liyanage Ajith 

marked 3V10 and the receipts marked 3V7-3V9 issued by Amila Lime Stores. The 

said Ukwatta Liyanage Ajith in his Affidavit has stated that he acted as the Mason 

for the Intervenient-Respondent from 25.01.2010 and that all the items including 

cement and sand were supplied by the Intervenient-Respondent.  
 

[64] The Intervenient-Respondent’s own documents marked 3V7-3V9 clearly  

contradict the Affidavit of the said Ukwatta Liyanage Ajith. The Intervenient- 

Respondent has not produced a single receipt to prove that he purchased building 

materials from 25.01.2010 to 26.02.2010 as claimed by his Mason, who in his 
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Affidavit marked 3V10 has claimed that he renovated the premises in question from 

25.01.2010. The receipts marked 3V7-3V9 are all dated after 27.03.2010 and thus, 

the Mason’s Affidavit that he had been working in the premises from 25.01.2010 is 

not credible and ought to be rejected.  
 

[65] The 1st Respondent or the Intervenient-Respondents have failed to produce any 

credible document to prove their possession prior to 26.02.2010 and their 

documents only apply for a period after 26.02.2010. In my view, no reliance could 

be placed on the Affidavits of the Intervenient-Respondent and his Mason marked 

3V10 and under such circumstances, the learned High Court Judge was wrong in 

holding that the Intervenient-Respondent was also entitled to the possession of the 

premises in question.  
 

[66] On the other hand, the Appellant’s documents marked 2V9 (a), 2V10, 2V13, 

2V7 (a) -2V8 (b), 2V18 (a) -2V1819 (d) and 2V23 (a) clearly establish his 

possession of the premises until 26.02.2010. The Affidavit of the Appellant’s 

contractor Sirajudden marked 2V13 further confirms that the Appellant’s workers 

had been forcibly evicted from the premises in dispute on 26.02.2010.   

 

[67] It is settled law that the question whether a person is in possession of any 

corporeal thing, such as a house, is to ascertain whether he is in general control of it 

and the law recognizes two kinds of possession: 
 

 

(a) actual possession where a person has direct physical control over a thing at a 

given time; and; 
 
,, 

(b) constructive possession where he, though not in actual possession has both 

the power and intention at a given time to exercise dominion or control over 

a thing either directly or through another person (Iqbal v. Majedudeen and 

others (1999) 3 Sri LR 213). 
 

 

[68] The important thing in constructive possession is that a person must have both 

power and intention at a given time to exercise dominion over a thing either directly 

or through another person (Thiyagarajah Thevaranjan v. Kalairasi Uruthiran  and 

others C.A (PHC) 93/2011 decided on 02.10.2012, at p.10), the mere fact that a 

person exercised a dominion or control over the property in question is not 

sufficient to have constructive possession, but he also must show that he has 

excluded the others from possession of the said property (Supra).  

 

[69] It is to be noted  that there is a house standing on the premises in question and 

thus, in determining the possession of the house, the important thing is to ascertain 

who is in general control of it (Iqbal v. Majedudeen and others (Supra). When the 
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concept of physical control of the premises in dispute is applied, the documents 

issued by the Licensed Surveyor marked 2V9 (a) confirm that when the property in 

dispute was surveyed on 28.12.2009 and 09.01.2010, the Appellant was physically 

present and that there was no any objection raised by any other interested party at 

that time. 
 

[70] When the concept of constructive possession is applied to the facts of the 

present case, it is quite clear that although the Appellant had gone to Sudan after the 

investigation into the complaint made by the 1st Respondent was over and that he 

had been in Sudan on 26.02.2010 when the dispossession occured, he had exercised 

dominion and control over the premises through his contractor and workers. The 

Affidavits filed by the Appellant’s contractor Sirajuudeen (2V13) and his cousins, 

Nasheeth Abdul Cader (2V23 (a) and Muslih Abdul Cader (2V10) corroborate this 

position. The conduct of the Appellant in sending a prompt complaint from Sudan 

by fax on 26.02.2010 itself shows his intention to exercise control and retain power 

over the disputed premises and the house standing thereon.  
 

[71] In the circumstances, the Appellant has clearly established by documentary 

evidence that he had been in possession of the premises in dispute on 26.02.2010 

and that he has been forcibly dispossessed within a period of 2 months immediately 

before the date on which the information was filed by the Police on 20.04.2010. 

The learned Additional Magistrate has correctly examined and considered all 

relevant material and  come to the correct decision that the Appellant who had been 

in possession of the premises in question has been forcibly dispossessed within a 

period of 2 months immediately before the date on which the information was filed 

by the Police on 20.04.2010.  
 

[72] For those reasons, I hold that the findings of the learned High Court Judge are 

clearly erroneous and such findings ought to be set aside and the order of the 

learned Additional Magistrate of Colombo directing that the Appellant be restored 

to possession under section 68 (3) of the Primary Courts’ Procedure Act ought to be 

affirmed. 

[73] The Appellant who is the Petitioner in the Revision Application bearing No. 

CA (PHC) APN 98-2013 has also sought to revise and set aside the said order of 

the learned High Court Judge dated 13.02.2013. It is trite law that the purpose of 

revisionary jurisdiction is supervisory in nature and that the object is the proper 

administration of justice (Attorney-General v. Gunawardena (1996) 2 Sri LR 149, 

at p. 156). In Marian Beebee v. Seyed Mohamed 58 NLR 36, Sansoni C.J. has 

clearly stated the reasons for the exercise of the extraordinary power of revisionary 

jurisdiction by Appellate Courts as follows: 
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“The power of revision is an extraordinary power which is quite independent 

of and distinct from the appellate jurisdiction of this Court. Its object is the due 

administration of justice and the correction of errors, sometimes committed by 

this Court itself, in order to avoid miscarriages of justice. It is exercised in 

some cases by a Judge of his own motion, when an aggrieved person who may 

not be a party to the action brings to his notice the fact that unless the power is 

exercised injustice will result”. 

 

 

[74] I further hold that the order of the learned High Court Judge in setting aside the 

order of the learned Additional Magistrate of Colombo and declaring that the 1st 

Respondent and the Interveneient-Respondent were entitled to possession of the 

premises in dispute is manifestly erroneous. His order has caused a grave 

miscarriage of justice to the Appellant. Accordingly, I hold that the Appellant who 

is also the Petitioner in the Revision Application bearing No. CA (PHC) APN 

98/2013 is entitled to the reliefs prayed for in the said Revision Application. 
 

Conclusion 
 

 

 

[75] For those reasons, the judgment of the learned High Court Judge of Colombo 

dated 13.02.2013 made in case bearing No. HCRA 143/2010 is set aside. The order 

of the learned Additional Magistrate of Colombo dated 14.09.2010 in case bearing 

No. 54055/03 is affirmed.  
 

[76] In the result, the Appeal filed by the Appellant in case bearing No. CA (PHC) 

0039/2013 and the Revision Application filed by the Petitioner in case bearing No. 

CA (PHC) APN 98/2013 are allowed.    

 

 

 

 

 

JUDGE OF THE COURT OF APPEAL 

 

M. Sampath K.B. Wijeratne, J. 

 

 I agree. 
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